**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

RECEIVED

Mar 29 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Florence County
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-21-02290
Appellate Case No. 2021-000586

Mary Tisdale,
as Personal Representative of the Estate of Earlene Seabrook,

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center
and Jeffrey Gibbs,

Defendants,

Of whom Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center is the

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP

Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)

D. Jay Davis Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s¹ motion to compel Plaintiff’s² claims to arbitration?³**
- A. Did the circuit court err in its analysis of the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument?**
- 1. Did the circuit court err in not finding (a) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (b) that, because Ms. Seabrook⁴ effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith?⁵**
 - 2. Did the circuit court err in finding that the FAA⁶ does not apply?**
 - 3. Did the circuit court err in relying on the SCAA?⁷**
 - 4. Did the circuit court err in (a) incorrectly stating that “a review of the admissions and arbitration documents by the [Facility] would have informed them that [Ms.] Tisdale did not have actual authority by way of a Durable Power of Attorney, nor Court Appointed Guardianship to bind [Ms.**

¹ The “Facility” is Defendant/Appellant, Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center, a skilled nursing facility.

² “Plaintiff” is Plaintiff/Respondent, Mary Tisdale (“Ms. Tisdale”) as Personal Representative of the Estate of Earlene Seabrook.

³ This issue, and the corresponding argument, includes and challenges the circuit court’s adverse rulings with respect to both the Facility’s principal motion and its subsequent Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion.

⁴ “Ms. Seabrook” is the decedent, Earlene Seabrook.

⁵ This issue, and the corresponding argument, specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the circuit court’s error in using the wrong test for equitable estoppel in this context.

⁶ The “FAA” is the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C §§ 1–16.

⁷ The “SCAA” is South Carolina’s Arbitration Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-48-10 to -240.

Seabrook], nor did she ever indicate that she had any apparent authority to enter contracts on behalf of [Ms. Seabrook]” and (b) violating the FAA’s “equal footing” rule by charging the Facility with a heightened duty to determine the existence and/or scope of Ms. Tisdale’s authority that does not exist under South Carolina’s general contract law while disregarding such law in respect of (i) the legal significance of Ms. Tisdale’s act of signing the Arbitration Agreement and/or (ii) Ms. Tisdale’s duty of good faith and fair dealing?

- B. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s motion based on any finding that Plaintiff’s claims are outside the scope of the Arbitration Agreement?
 - C. While recognizing the binding effect (not only on the circuit court but also on this Court) of our Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Arredondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC*,⁸ the Facility nonetheless wishes to preserve the following issue: Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s argument that the Arbitration Agreement was validly executed on Ms. Seabrook’s behalf by her attorney-in-fact, Ms. Tisdale, pursuant to Ms. Tisdale’s authority under the HCPOA?^{9 10}
 - D. Out of an abundance of caution, assuming, *arguendo*, that this might be material, did the circuit court err in referring to both the Facility and Mr. Gibbs as movants?
- II. At a minimum, did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s alternative request for limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability?

⁸ 433 S.C. 69, 856 S.E.2d 550 (2021).

⁹ The “HCPOA” is the South Carolina Health Care Power of Attorney that Ms. Tisdale held as to Ms. Seabrook.

¹⁰ This issue, and the corresponding argument, specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the correctness of the *Arredondo* decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of her niece Ms. Tisdale, Ms. Seabrook was admitted to the Facility on or about June 25, 2019. (*See* R. pp. 133–144.) In conjunction with Ms. Seabrook’s admission to the Facility, Ms. Tisdale, who handled all the paperwork, and was indeed Ms. Seabrook’s attorney-in-fact pursuant to the HCPOA,¹¹ signed an Admission Agreement¹² and an Arbitration Agreement¹³ on Ms. Seabrook’s behalf.

Ms. Tisdale signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “‘Resident’s [(i.e., Ms. Seabrook’s¹⁴)] Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/‘[Ms. Seabrook’s] Legal Guardian’/‘[Ms. Seabrook’s] Responsible Party.’” (R. pp. 133, 98.) By signing the Admission Agreement, Ms. Tisdale expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce Facility to enter into th[e] Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 144.) By signing the Arbitration Agreement, Ms. Tisdale expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Ms. Seabrook’s] behalf so as to bind [Ms. Seabrook] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 98.)

¹¹ (R. pp. 125–132.)

¹² (R. pp. 133–144.)

¹³ (R. p. 98.)

¹⁴ Both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement refer to Ms. Seabrook as “Resident.” (R. pp. 133, 98.)

Alleging that Ms. Seabrook received deficient care/treatment during her residency at the Facility,¹⁵ Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action on October 8, 2020, in the Court of Common Pleas, Florence County. (*See* R. pp. 22–39.)¹⁶

Citing the Arbitration Agreement Ms. Tisdale signed for Ms. Seabrook, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims to arbitration (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 96–97; *see also* R. pp. 99–124.)

The circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration on February 9, 2021, the Honorable William H. Seals Jr. presiding. (*See generally* R. pp. 58–94.) The court denied the motion by formal order filed March 1, 2021. (R. pp. 4–16.)¹⁷

¹⁵ In particular, Plaintiff alleges Ms. Seabrook did not receive proper care with respect to the prevention and/or treatment of pressure ulcers. (*See* R. p. 145 (“While Ms. Seabrook was a resident and under the [Facility’s] care, she was allowed to develop pressure ulcers which became infected, leading to her decline and eventual death . . . on August 31, 2019.”); *see also* R. p. 30, ¶ 31 (“While at the [F]acility . . . Ms. Seabrook . . . develop[ed] preventable injuries which the [Facility] had a duty to prevent, caused by a breach of that duty, including but not limited to pressure sores”))

¹⁶ Subject to and without waiving its right to compel the matter to arbitration, the Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, denying the material allegations against it and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (*See* R. pp. 47–57.)

¹⁷ In a Form 4 order filed February 9, 2021, the court had previously stated that the Motion to Compel Arbitration was denied and that a formal order would follow. (R. pp. 1–3.)

By order filed May 4, 2021, the court thereafter denied the Facility’s motion for reconsideration. (R. pp. 17–21.)¹⁸

By notice served and filed June 2, 2021, this appeal timely follows. (*See* R. pp. 172–177.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the lower court. *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

¹⁸ Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on March 11, 2021, the Facility had timely moved the court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its order of March 1, 2021. (R. pp. 155–171.)

ARGUMENT

- I. **The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration.**
 - A. **The circuit court erred in its analysis of the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument.**
 1. **The circuit court erred in not finding (a) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (b) that, because Ms. Seabrook effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff should be estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.¹⁹**

First off, to be clear, the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement but rather an argument for Plaintiff—as personal representative of Ms. Seabrook's estate—to be *estopped* from denying its enforceability. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Ms. Seabrook having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any contention about the Arbitration Agreement's supposed lack of enforceability is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility's merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Facility can show that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable but

¹⁹ Again, as noted above, this argument specifically includes and challenges, without limitation, the circuit court's error in using the wrong test for equitable estoppel in this context.

whether the Facility can show that Plaintiff should be estopped to deny that it is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the Facility did so.

Re: Merger

Even though Ms. Seabrook is a nonsignatory to the Arbitration Agreement,²⁰ it is nonetheless enforceable against her estate, i.e., against Plaintiff.

South Carolina recognizes numerous theories under which a nonsignatory can be bound to an arbitration agreement. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.”). Indeed, in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014), our Supreme Court recognized the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel in the very context involved in the instant case, i.e., where an arbitration agreement is signed on behalf of someone who is being admitted to a nursing home.

²⁰ For present purposes, the Facility assumes, *arguendo*, that (contrary to its position in respect of Issue/Argument I.C.) the Arbitration Agreement was not validly executed by Ms. Tisdale as Ms. Seabrook’s attorney-in-fact pursuant to the HCPOA.

Even though the *Coleman* Court found against merger on the *particular facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the *general proposition of law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement]’s enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreement]s merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down’Round Dev. Corp., 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–55, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court wrongly concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contacts that do not merge,²¹ failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed or otherwise appreciated in) *Coleman* and its progeny, *Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”²² as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,²³ there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the contracting parties intended the instruments to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of the parties’ intention. *See Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a

²¹ (See R. pp. 11–14.)

²² *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

²³ To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents *were* executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25. Thus, the question of the parties’ intention turns on case-specific facts analyzed in case-specific context.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, it does not even make sense that the parties would not have intended the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement to merge.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of their signing (while the corresponding admission agreements contained no such provision), the instant Arbitration Agreement has no such disclaimer/revocation provision. (*See R.* p. 98.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does

contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 144.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court²⁴), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating its own *non*-“separatedness.” (R. p. 144.) And without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other admissions materials. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted).

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required to gain admission to the Facility. But all this means is that it did not have to be agreed to for Ms. Seabrook to be admitted, i.e., the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become a part of the admissions materials once it was in fact agreed to. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not

²⁴ 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike in the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

While it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement is necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact executed, and it was executed under the particular circumstances that give rise to the presumption of merger—same time, parties, purpose, and transaction—and indeed, unlike the Admission Agreement, which is capable of making sense either standing alone or together with the Arbitration Agreement, *the Arbitration Agreement only makes sense together with the Admission Agreement*, which is its (the Arbitration Agreement’s) sole reason for being. (See R. p. 98 (providing for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to Resident’s stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to Resident”); *id.* (“This [Arbitration] Agreement shall remain in effect for all care rendered at Facility”).)

Even though the Arbitration Agreement was not a *condition* of admission, it was agreed to in *conjunction* with admission; whereupon, it was intended to be considered and construed together with the Admission Agreement, such that the two were effectively one instrument governing various interrelated aspects of Ms. Seabrook's relationship with the Facility: the Admission Agreement setting forth the terms of her admission, the Arbitration Agreement providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of her admission. (*Compare* R. pp. 133–144 (setting forth the terms of Ms. Seabrook's admission to the Facility) *with* R. p. 98 (providing for arbitration of disputes arising out of Ms. Seabrook's admission in the Facility).)

Also absent here is the type of discrepancy the *Hodge* Court pointed out regarding the respective provisions of the admission and arbitration agreements before it as to the governing law. 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. (*Compare* R. p. 142 (providing “This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with applicable Federal regulations and those laws of the State in which Facility is located.”) *with* R. p. 98 (providing that, “because the services and reimbursement thereof effect a transaction involving interstate commerce, the enforcement of this Arbitration Agreement . . . shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Action;” but also providing that arbitration shall be “as provided by the South Carolina Alternate Dispute Resolution/Mediation Rules”).) Essentially, both instruments provide that

South Carolina law applies except where it is displaced by federal law. This provides no reasonable inference of an intent contrary to merger.

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