RECEIVED

Mar 25 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

William H. Seals, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000586

Mary Tisdale, as Personal
Representative of the Estate of
Earlene Seabrook

.....

Respondent,

v.

Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC,
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare
Center and Jeffrey Gibbs,

.....

Defendants,

Of whom Palmetto Lake City Operating, LLC,
d/b/a Lake City-Scranton Healthcare Center is

.....

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

D. Nathan Hughey
A. Stuart Hudson
Bradley H. Banyas
Hughey Law Firm, LLC
Post Office Box 348
Mount Pleasant, SC 29465

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

Accordingly, the Facility's merger argument is flawed not only in the specific ways described above but also in its very conception of when and how the merger principle operates. The circuit court properly applied extensive South Carolina law in this field and rejected the Facility's contention that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement merged.

3. Respondent is not equitably estopped from opposing arbitration.

Ms. Seabrook did not sign the Arbitration Agreement or authorize anyone to sign for her. Yet, the Facility argues South Carolina Supreme Court precedent suggests Ms. Seabrook/Respondent are equitably estopped from opposing arbitration. Appellants' Br. at 17-19 (citing Wilson). However, the Facility does not cite or attempt to apply the elements of equitable estoppel imposed by South Carolina law.⁴ Plus, Wilson actually refused to compel arbitration against a non-signatory, holding there is a presumption *against* forcing someone to arbitrate based on a contract he did not sign. 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173. Wilson even went on record to say equitable estoppel is rarely appropriate to force arbitration. Id. at 345, 827 S.E.2d at 177 (finding equitable estoppel "should be used sparingly"). Finally, as this Court recently reaffirmed in Weaver v. Brookdale Senior Living, Inc., 431 S.C. 223, 847 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2020), the Facility cannot meet the "direct benefits" test considered in Wilson because Mr. Seabrook's claims in no sense rely on the Arbitration Agreement's terms, and the Facility's argument to the contrary expressly links its estoppel claim to its fatally flawed merger argument.

⁴ As Wilson recognized, whether a non-signatory may be bound to an arbitration contract is a state law issue. 426 S.C. at 348, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (citing Arthur Andersen LLP v. Carlisle, 556 U.S. 624, 630-31 n. 5 (2009)). Under South Carolina law, equitable estoppel requires proof that the party to be estopped (1) acted in a way amounting to a false representation; (2) intended that such conducted be acted on by the other party; and (3) had actual or constructive knowledge of the real facts. Strickland v. Strickland, 375 S.C. 76, 84, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007). The party asserting estoppel must (1) lack knowledge and the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; (2) rely on the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) make a prejudicial change in position in reliance on conduct of the party to be estopped. Id. Wilson did not dismiss or eliminate this test for equitable estoppel but only found its application was an issue that had not been preserved for appellate review. 426 S.C. at 341 n. 9, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n. 9. The Facility argues Wilson concluded this test only applies to "non-arbitration cases." Appellant's Br. at 18 (citing Wilson, 426 S.C. at 340 n. 9, 827 S.E.2d at 175 n. 9). However, that could not have been Wilson's meaning because applying different rules to arbitration and non-arbitration contracts would violate the U.S. Supreme Court's equal-treatment principle. See Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood Conklin Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395, 404 n. 12 (1967) (finding intent of FAA was "to make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not more so").

The Facility wholly omits the fact that the “direct benefits estoppel” discussed in Wilson could only apply if Respondent had “consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit” her. 426 S.C. at 340, 827 S.E.2d at 175 (quoting Pearson, 400 S.C. at 290, 733 S.E.2d at 601). In other words, the Facility’s burden is to show (1) Ms. Seabrook’s claims arise from the purportedly merged Admission Agreement-Arbitration Agreement; (2) Ms. Seabrook/Respondents have “exploited” other parts of the contract by reaping its benefits; and (3) Ms. Seabrook’s claims rely solely on the contract terms to impose liability. Weaver, 431 S.C. at 230, 847 S.E.2d at 272 (citing Wilson, 426 S.C. at 340-44, 827 S.E.2d at 175-77). The Facility makes no attempt to meet this burden and cannot do so. Ms. Seabrook’s claims do not cite or rely on the Arbitration Agreement. Instead, the Facility argues Ms. Seabrook’s alleged direct benefit was admission itself and the nursing home services he received while a Facility resident. Appellants’ Br. at 18-19.

But, this argument has two key flaws. For one, the Facility expressly links its estoppel claim to a merger argument it cannot prove. Appellants’ Br. at 19 (arguing estoppel applies because Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement merged). As discussed in Argument 2 above, there is no merger here because (1) Ms. Tisdale lacked statutory authority to enter the Admission Agreement; (2) the contracts were created for different purposes; and (3) there are many indications from the contracts’ language that they were not intended to be construed as one. Second, Ms. Seabrook has not obtained a “direct benefit” from the Admission Agreement as that term is used for estoppel purposes. The complaint does not allege a breach of contract claim based on the Admission Agreement or otherwise rely on that contract to assert liability against the Facility. The mere fact that Ms. Seabrook’s relationship with the Facility underlying the claims was memorialized in the Admission Agreement is not sufficient for the Facility to invoke estoppel.

Wilson, 426 S.C. at 343, 827 S.E.2d at 176 (“direct benefits estoppel is not implicated simply because a claim relates to or would not have arisen ‘but for’ a contract’s existence”).

Weaver applied this principle to reject the argument that a nursing home resident receives the required “direct benefit” through her admission or “exploits” either the admission or arbitration contracts by suing for poor nursing home care. 431 S.C. at 232-33, 847 S.E.2d at 273-74. In Weaver, a granddaughter brought wrongful death and survival claims based on a nursing home’s failure to supervise a resident who wandered away from the home and was killed by a wild animal. Id. at 271. Equitable estoppel did not apply because the granddaughter’s claims “rely on general tort duties . . . not any provision of the residency agreement.” Id. at 232, 847 S.E.2d at 273. Weaver did not create new law; it followed Hodge’s lead in holding that a nursing home resident or her family members do not “exploit” an admission contract by alleging common law negligence claims. Id. (citing Hodge, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302).

Thompson also rejected a nursing home’s attempt to use direct benefits estoppel to compel a non-signatory nursing home resident to arbitrate. 416 S.C. at 58-59, 784 S.E.2d at 687-88. After surveying state and Fourth Circuit precedent, Thompson rejected this form of estoppel because it generally requires proof of some benefit to the party opposing estoppel in “*the contract that includes the arbitration provision.*” 416 S.C. at 59, 784 S.E.2d at 688 (emphasis added). The Facility, therefore, cannot build an estoppel argument by citing benefits Ms. Seabrook supposedly gained in the Admission Agreement. Thompson also rejected any effort to argue Ms. Seabrook gained a “direct benefit” from the Arbitration Agreement. Id. at 60, 784 S.E.2d at 688 (“any possible benefit emanating from the [Arbitration Agreement] alone is offset by the [Arbitration Agreement’s] requirement that [resident] waive her right of access to the courts . . .”).

In sum, the circuit court correctly rejected the Facility's equitable estoppel argument because the Facility has not cited or applied the proper elements, cannot show Ms. Seabrook obtained any "direct benefit," and bases its estoppel claim on a flawed merger argument. As it did in Thompson, Hodge, and Weaver, this Court should reject this equitable estoppel argument.

4. The Facility was not denied the opportunity to conduct discovery and may not ask the Court to preemptively rule on waiver.

The Facility argues the circuit court unreasonably tied its hands in discovery and prevented it from accessing essential information to support arbitration. (Appellant's Br. at 33-36).⁵ That argument could wield a measure of intuitive heft except that the Facility's right to conduct discovery was never threatened and is not really what it seeks here. Instead, what the Facility seeks is a prophylactic assurance that choosing to engage in discovery would not lead Respondent to argue, or the circuit court to find, the Facility waived its right to pursue arbitration. That request is both unreasonable and unconstitutional.

Neither the procedural rules nor Respondent's conduct prevented the Facility from serving discovery requests. In fact, the Facility had the right to serve written discovery requests and to notice depositions from the moment Respondent filed her Complaint with the Florence County Clerk of Court. Rule 30(a)(1), SCRCF (permitting depositions "[a]fter commencement of an action"); Rule 33(a), SCRCF (same for serving interrogatories); Rule 34(b), SCRCF (same for serving requests for production); see also Rule 3(a), SCRCF (stating that a civil action is "commenced" when the complaint is filed if later served within the statute of limitations). The

⁵ Regardless of the justiciability issues and substantive flaws discussed below, the Court should dismiss Issue No. 2 for lack of appellate jurisdiction. Discovery orders are interlocutory and not otherwise immediately appealable because they do not involve the merits of an action or affect a substantive right. Grosshuesch v. Cramer, 377 S.C. 12, 30, 659 S.E.2d 112, 122 (2008); Rule 201(a), SCACR (limiting appeals to a final judgments and appealable orders).

rules specifically provide that a party need not seek a court's permission before serving discovery requests. Rule 33(a), SCRCP; Rule 34(b), SCRCP. Plus, it is not as if the Facility tried and failed or was somehow thwarted in seeking information from Respondent. The record contains no discovery requests Respondent ignored and no subpoenas to which she objected. When the Facility argues the circuit court ruled "without allowing" discovery and claims discovery was "disallowed" in this case (Appellant's Br. at 35-36), it can offer zero evidence to support those assertions. The Facility lacks the information it claims now to need only because the Facility never asked for it.

The Facility's real concern relates to the possible consequences of pursuing discovery. South Carolina law holds that a party may waive any right it may have to pursue arbitration if it first chooses to litigate in a way that would render a shift to arbitration prejudicial to its opponent. Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC, 416 S.C. 508, 513, 788 S.E.2d 216, 218 (2016); Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 388, 759 S.E.2d 727, 736 (2014). The point at which a party delves too deeply into litigation to assert a right to arbitrate varies because the analysis is heavily fact driven. Johnson, 416 S.C. at 513, 788 S.E.2d at 219 (citing Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton, 336 S.C. 658, 665, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999)). In any given case, a party seeking arbitration faces uncertainty in knowing when it is vulnerable to a waiver argument, and the opposing party is uncertain when it may become necessary to assert one.

What the Facility now calls its request for discovery was actually its improper effort to eliminate its uncertainty at Respondent's expense. The Facility explicitly seeks assurances that choosing to conduct discovery will not expose it to a waiver argument. Appellant's Br. at 35 (noting concern that the Facility could be "vulnerable to [Respondent's] waiver argument . . ."). The Facility's request presents a fundamental problem because what it calls a request for discovery does not present an issue any court could resolve in its favor. No South Carolina court can address

the merits of a party's argument unless it presents a justiciable claim. Lennon v. S.C. Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 417-18, 498 S.E.2d 906, 908 (Ct. App. 1998). South Carolina courts cite the "case or controversy" requirement in the U.S. Constitution's Article III and apply federal standards for identifying a justiciable controversy under South Carolina law. Id.; Waters v. S.C. Land Resources Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 227-28, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917-18 (1996). A claim is justiciable only if it presents a "real and substantial controversy which is ripe and appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a contingent, hypothetical or abstract dispute." Sloan v. Greenville Cnty., 356 S.C. 531, 552, 590 S.E.2d 338, 349 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Pee Dee Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Carolina Power Light Co., 279 S.C. 64, 66, 301 S.E.2d 761, 762 (1983)). Justiciability specifically considers a party's standing as well as the suitability of the dispute for judicial resolution. Courts may not address claims that are unripe, moot, or seek only an advisory opinion. Jowers v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 423 S.C. 343, 815 S.E.2d 446 (2018).

Here, the Facility lacked standing to assert a discovery argument that was both unripe and sought an advisory opinion. The Facility argues it was denied its "request for limited discovery." Appellants' Br. at 33. The Facility lacks standing to assert this claim. Under South Carolina law, standing may be acquired by statute, using the "public importance" exception, or by satisfying the requirements of "constitutional standing" derived from federal constitutional principles. ATC South, Inc. v. Charleston Cnty., 380 S.C. 191, 195, 669 S.E.2d 337, 339 (2008). Only constitutional standing could apply here, and the Facility cannot meet those requirements for its discovery-based argument. Constitutional standing demands a concrete and particularized "injury-in-fact," a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of, and a finding that the injury will likely be redressed by a ruling in the injured party's favor. Id. (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992)). The Facility has not suffered any concrete and particularized injury. As discussed above, the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure authorized the precise action—serving discovery requests—the Facility claims it was denied. Rules 30(a)(1), 33(a), and 34(b), SCRCF. The Facility cannot claim to be injured by its own decision to forego a right the law unconditionally provided.

The Facility also cannot meet the remaining constitutional standing requirements. There is no causal connection between the Facility’s proposed injury (i.e. a lack of discovery) and either Respondent’s conduct or the circuit court’s order. Neither denied the Facility the right to conduct discovery before filing its motion to compel arbitration. Nor can the Facility meet constitutional standing’s redressability requirement. Given the procedural rules’ repeated statements that discovery requests may be made “without leave of court,”⁶ it is not at all clear it would ever be appropriate for a party in the Facility’s position to ask a circuit court to grant a “request” to conduct discovery.

When the true nature of the Facility’s request is considered, other justiciability issues arise. Nothing in the Facility’s request was about getting discovery it was allegedly denied; it was all about making the Facility more comfortable in opposing any argument of waiver. Thus, it appears the Facility was asking the circuit court to find any discovery it chose to perform would, as a matter of law, not subject it to a waiver argument. This was a proposed ruling the circuit court could not issue. While waiver could become an issue later in this litigation, it was not ripe for adjudication before the Facility sent its first discovery request.

A claim is not ripe if it is “contingent, hypothetical, or abstract.” Jowers, 423 S.C. at 353-54, 815 S.E.2d at 451 (quoting Colleton Cnty. Taxpayers Ass’n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton Cnty.,

⁶ Rule 33(a), SCRCF; Rule 34(b), SCRCF.

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